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Guidelines for Solicitation and Evaluation of Research Proposals
A.
Purpose:

The purpose of this guideline is to specify the process for issuance and requirements to be included in Requests for Applications (RFAs) soliciting submission of research proposals to the Ohio Department of Mental Health (ODMH).  The guideline serves to identify research objectives appropriate for funding, the available funding mechanisms, proposal submission requirements, and the scientific review process.  

B.
Definitions:

1.
“Applied research” means an original, systematic study designed to answer a specific question, determine why something failed or succeeded, solve a specific pragmatic problem, or to acquire new knowledge and understanding. Applied research has immediate and direct impact on a specific problem.    

2.
“Institutional review board” (IRB) means a body established in accordance with 7 CFR 1c.107, 10 CFR 745.107, 14 CFR 1230.107, 15 CFR 27.107, 16 CFR 1028.107, 21 CFR 56.107, 22 CFR 225.107, 24 CFR 60.107, 28 CFR 46.107, 32 CFR 219.107, 34 CFR 97.107, 38 CFR 16.107, 40 CFR 46.107, 45 CFR 46.107, 45 CFR 690.107 or 49 CFR 11.107. 
3.
“Research proposal” means a document written by a researcher that describes in detail the program for a proposed scientific investigation. A research proposal is an outline of how a study will address a particular area or problem. A research proposal contains an extensive literature review and must offer convincing support of need for the research study being proposed.  In addition to providing rationale for the proposed research, the proposal must include a detailed methodology for conducting the research.

4.
“Request for application” (RFA) means an announcement that solicits research proposals in well-defined scientific areas to support specific program initiative(s) and indicating the amount of funds available and specific requirements for the applications.
5.
“Regular research grant” means a type of grant funded by ODMH. This type of grant is designed to provide funds for researchers who respond to an ODMH RFA.  The amount of the funds available for these grants will be specified in the RFA.  These grants will be initiated to assist the Department in fulfilling its mission, vision, and strategic goals.
6.
“Scientific review committee” or “review committee” means the group comprised of, as applicable, leadership at ODMH, staff of the Office of Research and Evaluation, content experts from Ohio’s private and public universities and other community stakeholders whose function is to review and make recommendations to ODMH leadership regarding regular research and small research grants.
7.
“Small research grant” means a type of grant funded by ODMH to provide limited supplemental funds (amounts less than $8,000) to graduate students who are focusing their research efforts on the immediate and pressing problems associated with providing effective and quality mental health services. These funds are primarily intended to provide the additional supplies, equipment (e.g., digital recorders for taping/transcribing interviews), travel, and other expenses which are necessary to conduct research, but for which the student does not have alternate funding.  The funds may also be used, under extenuating circumstances, for limited stipends for the researcher.  
C.
Policy:
1.
Research is a necessary and vital component of ODMH’s mission.  Each year ODMH spends a portion of its monies in the area of research.  Systematic research is imperative for a service and oversight organization such as ODMH.  Research focusing on the fundamental dimensions of mental health, the patterns of mental illness, and the needs of consumers of mental health services provides a foundation for building Departmental programs and priorities.  Applied research on strategies of community and hospital treatment, and prevention of mental health problems, provides a basis for development of future programs and system improvements. 
2.
The ODMH research program is directed toward applied research projects, with results that are expected to have more immediate impact on the problems and needs currently experienced by consumers of services in the public mental health system. 
3.
Throughout the year, ODMH may issue RFAs to stimulate research in particular areas of science that are necessary to fulfill the Department’s mission, vision, and strategic goals. 
4.
ODMH may consider investigator-initiated small research grant funding requests.

5.
This guideline for solicitation and evaluation of research proposals sets appropriate parameters for ODMH in preparing an RFA, including the general content elements of the solicited proposals, the process for responding to a small research grant letter of inquiry, deadlines for proposal submission, and proposal evaluation factors.

6.
Research funds are intended to be used for studies which are expected to generate new knowledge. Research funds are not to be used for ongoing operations or regular agency functions such as program evaluation. 

7.
Projects can be funded for varying periods of time.  If the intended duration of a project extends beyond the state fiscal year, initial funding will be granted for one fiscal year only. Continued funding is contingent upon a re-application which outlines the project design, discusses findings and progress during the first year or portion thereof, and provides justification for continuation of the project.   

D.
Framework: 

1.
There are serious gaps in knowledge about most facets of mental health and mental illness.

2.
In those areas in which some knowledge base exists, there is frequently a lack of consensus among professionals concerning the definitions of the problems as well as the validity of current treatment solutions.

3.
There is a lack of understanding of what and how interventions work to affect positive change in persons who have a mental or behavioral disorder.
4.
There is a serious gap in knowledge about how the organization of mental health services, delivery (process and receipt of care), and related health economics at the individual, clinical, program, community and systems levels impact mental health care access, quality and outcomes.
5.
All research grants funded by ODMH will have the following characteristics: the potential for current operational impact on programs in the public mental health system; a focus on problems and needs of individuals with the most severe and persistent mental illness; and linked to the goals, strategies, and activities of the ODMH mission, vision, and strategic plan.

E.
Procedure:
1.
ODMH may issue two types of research grants, regular research grants and small grants for graduate research in applied mental health.  The procedures for soliciting applications are based on the type of grant.  
a.
Regular ODMH research grants: 

A regular research grant RFA  will include all necessary information for prospective researchers to submit a proposal that meets the expectations of ODMH. Guidelines for the general content of a proposal are specified in the “Competitive Grant Proposal Evaluation” maintained by ORE. Deadlines for proposal submission will be posted in the RFA announcement and on the ODMH website.  Proposals submitted after the posted deadline will not be considered for funding.

b.
Small research grant for graduate research in applied mental health: 

The ODMH Small Research Grant program is the only investigator-initiated research grant offered by the department.  This program allows investigators to initiate research topics for funding consideration for topics that are consistent with the ODMH mission, vision, and strategic priorities and goals. Prospective researchers may seek a preliminary indication of whether a particular Small Research Grant project would be considered for funding by submitting a Letter of Inquiry to the Office of Research and Evaluation (ORE).  The Letter of Inquiry should provide the following information:   

i.
Name or topic of the proposed research project and the RFA;

ii.
Statement of the problem or question to be addressed;

iii.
Significance of the problem or question addressed by the research and how it specifically addresses the ODMH mission, vision, and strategic goals;
iv.
Summary of the proposed research methodology;
v.
Qualifications of the applicant and his/her organization to undertake the project;
vi.
Geographic scope of the research area; and 
vii.
General estimate of the project’s cost and overview of budget
In response to such a submission, ORE will indicate whether a proposed study would be eligible for funding, fit within the department’s strategic priorities and goals, or require certain modifications in order to be eligible for funding, as well as provide information as to the project’s relative priority for funding. A positive response to a Letter of Inquiry is not a commitment to eventual funding. The Letter of Inquiry mechanism offers a means to give potential researchers valuable feedback before expending the effort to develop a full-scale proposal.  Letters of Inquiry generally will be reviewed within eight weeks of receipt by ODMH.  To be considered for funding, proposals for small research grants for graduate research will be subject to the same documentation submission and evaluation requirements as are applicable to regular research grants.
2.
All funding decisions will be made on the basis of proposal design, recommendations of the ODMH Scientific Review Committee, ODMH leadership, and the availability of research monies.

3.
Documentation required for research funding:  
In order to consider a request funds for a research project submitted in response to a RFA or as an investigator-initiated small research grant proposal, ODMH must have received four copies of each of the following documents. Unless both documents are received, the review will not proceed.

a.
A Research Abstract Form (DMH-RES-617).  This gives a brief synopsis of the project and includes responses to questions regarding protection of participants as well as the project budget. These forms are available from ORE or online at http://mentalhealth.ohio.gov/what-we-do/promote/research-and-evaluation/applying-for-a-grant.shtml
b.
A detailed project proposal, the contents of which are discussed in the “Competitive Grant Proposal Evaluation” maintained by ORE.
5.
The proposal review process:
a.
Each proposal will be reviewed by the ODMH Scientific Review Committee.  Evaluation review guidelines are specified in the “Research Proposal Evaluation Form” maintained by ORE.  
i.
Significance.  Does this study address an important problem?  If the aims of the proposal are achieved, how will mental health services be advanced?  What will be the effect of the study on the concepts, methods, technologies, treatments, services, or prevention interventions that drive the field? Will the suggested aims address the questions/problems posed in the RFA or further the ODMH mission, vision and strategic goals?

ii.
Approach.  Are the conceptual or clinical framework, design, methods, and analyses adequately developed, well integrated, well reasoned, and appropriate to the aims of the project?  Does the applicant acknowledge potential problem areas and consider alternative solutions? Is the approach used appropriate to address the questions/problems posed in the RFA or to further the ODMH mission, vision and strategic goals?

iii
Innovation.  Is the project original and innovative?  For example: Does the project challenge existing paradigms or clinical practice; address an innovative hypothesis or critical barrier to progress in the field? Does the project develop or employ novel concepts, approaches, methodologies, tools, or technologies for this area?

iv.
Investigators.  Are the investigators appropriately trained and well suited to carry out this work?  Is the work proposed appropriate to the experience level for the principal investigator or other researchers? If a team is involved, does the team bring complementary and integrated expertise to the project?

v.
Feasibility.  Does the scientific environment in which the work will be done contribute to the probability of success?  Does the proposed study benefit from unique features of the scientific environment, or subject populations, or employ collaborative arrangements? If applicable, is there evidence of institutional support for this project?

vi.
Protection of human subjects from research risk.  Is the involvement of human subjects and protections from research risk relating to participants’ involvement in the proposed research thoroughly addressed?

vii.
Inclusion of women, minorities, and children in research.  Is there an adequate plan to include participants across genders, all racial and ethnic groups (and subgroups), and children, as appropriate for the scientific goals of the research?  Plans for the recruitment and retention of participants will also be evaluated.

viii.
Budget.  Is the proposed budget and the requested period of support in relation to the proposed research reasonable?  

b.
Based on the reviews and recommendations of the ODMH Scientific Review Committee and ODMH leadership, ORE will issue to the investigator a letter indicating a funding decision for the proposal, which may be contingent upon specified proposal revisions.  

c.
Following approval of all required proposal revisions and final funding approval from ORE, applicant/researcher, the Chief of ORE and the appropriate ODMH Deputy Director shall execute a formal grant agreement with the applicant/researcher in a form approved by ODMH and addressing the responsibilities set out below, indicating official approval of the research by ODMH.

6.
ORE responsibilities for oversight of researchers.  

a.
Project approval and the grant agreement shall clearly indicate researcher’s responsibility(s) to ORE for carrying out the project as specified in the approved proposal, including all design changes or amendments specified during the review process.

b.
Fiscal management and grant services for active projects are handled by ORE. Generally payments are made on a quarterly basis but may be adjusted depending upon the nature of a particular project. Quarterly disbursements are directly tied to progress set forth in the performance measurement worksheet. Quarterly disbursements may be reduced or disallowed if progress does not meet the targets specified in the worksheet. 
c.
ORE must provide final approval of all procedures with human subjects as specified in the proposal, or as amended pursuant to the requirements specified by ORE.

d.
ORE shall require researchers to submit quarterly project progress reports and performance measurement worksheets to ORE. These reports are used to ensure the research is progressing at the scheduled pace and to determine if there are any problems that need to be addressed.  ORE shall require researchers’ fiscal officers to submit quarterly fiscal reports on the project to ORE. (Forms and time lines for both of these reports will be sent to researchers when projects are approved.) ORE shall also require researchers to report any major deviations (e.g., time frame, instrumentation, methodology) in procedures from the approved proposal and may renegotiate such terms with the researcher.  ORE shall require final fiscal reports to be submitted within thirty days after the completion of the project. 
e.
ORE shall work with researchers to disseminate results. Dissemination costs are a permissible budget item when justified by a dissemination plan.
f.
ORE shall require researchers to submit written project abstracts for “New Research in Mental Health”, published by ORE. This requirement for a project abstract is separate from and in addition to the requirement for a final report.
g.
ORE shall require researchers to submit to ORE one hard copy and one electronic copy of a detailed final report on the research outlining statement of problem, methodology and findings, within thirty days after the completion of the project. Guidelines for the required content of the final report are specified in “Final Report Guidelines” maintained by ORE. 
h.
ORE shall require that ODMH be given appropriate credit as a funding source if results of research are published in a professional journal, presented at professional meetings or given other media coverage. ORE shall require that ODMH be supplied with reprints of any publications based upon funded research.
7.
Responsibilities of Reviewers.

ORE will assemble a review committee for evaluation of proposals submitted in response to a RFA or as small research grant proposals.  Initially, ORE will send external reviewers a conflict of interest form and a reimbursement form.  Once the forms are returned to the Office of Research and Evaluation, ORE will deliver a packet to all reviewers, which will include the proposals and review forms (one per proposal) with the reviewer’s unique identification number on each page. Reviewers will be required to complete the review in its entirety by the due date and send back the review form in the self-addressed stamped envelope provided.  Reviewers will also be required to participate in a conference call to discuss the merits of the applications.  

8.
ODMH IRB
a.
The ODMH IRB operates under the US Department of Health and Human Services regulations for the Protection of Humans Research Subjects: Title 45 of the Code of Federal Regulations, Part 46 (CFR 46).  The IRB also is guided by the ethical principles regarding all research involving humans as subjects as set forth in the April 18, 1979, report of the National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, entitled: “Ethical Principles and Guidelines for the Protection of Human Subjects of Research,” commonly referred to as The Belmont Report.  

b.
The mission of the ODMH IRB is to ensure that vital, department research can be conducted in full compliance with both the letter and spirit of regulations designed to protect the rights and welfare of human subjects.  The IRB also monitors research to ensure that human subjects are protected from undue risk and from deprivation of personal rights and dignity.  This protection is assured by consideration of three principles that are the basis of ethical research:

i.
That voluntary participation by the subjects, indicated by free and informed consent, is assured by the investigators;

ii.
That an appropriate balance exists between potential benefits of the research to the subject or to society and the risks assumed by the subject; and

iii.
That there are fair procedures and outcomes in the selection of research subjects.

c.
The IRB Chair and Committee share authority over all IRB policy and procedure in collaboration with the chief of the Office of Research and Evaluation.

d.
If conducting research, offices and regional psychiatric hospitals (RPHs), including CSN programs, and workforce members of ODMH are directed to follow all applicable policies and procedures found in the ODMH IRB Requirements, Policies and Procedures Manual maintained at each RPH and in Central Office.  Failure to comply with this internal management guideline and its referenced document, the ODMH IRB Requirements, Policies and Procedures Manual, may result in disciplinary sanctions as defined in ODMH policy AH-22, “Code of Conduct and General Work Rules” effective 1-1-2010, as it may be amended.
_____________________________________



_________________________

Marion Sherman, M.D., Medical Director
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